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It should first be noted that in order to save the Dixie
Schoolhouse from demolition, it had to be moved from its
original site. Moving the schoolhouse¢ was the only alternative
to destruction.

N\

The Dixie Schoolhouse 1s a rectangular one-story building,

approximately 25' by 40' with very high celling space. It contal

simple classical details. Originally the school building was

located on a deck which projected approximately five feet from tH
building. Examination of the 1395 photo reveals this deck. Futy
plans call for restoration of this deck. The original foundatioy

has been replaced by a concrete foundation on the school's new sl

on Miller Creek School property. (This new site is approximatelj

one-quarter mile from the original site, and is part of the orig}

James liiller land holdings).

Deterioration of original materials is minimel, although
because of continuous and various use, the interior of the schoo]
building has experienced minor alteration. liore correctly, 1t
has experienced "addition." The room was partitioned, and a lowq
ceiling added in the 1950's. However this fixtures were not peri
nent and have been removed with no substantial impairment of the
interior. The process of restoration has revealed the originel

wooden floor (it had been covered with linoleum), and blackboards.

Interior restoration is now in progress. \\\

The schoolhouse has a symmetrical facade with windows (four

over four lights, double-hung wooden sashes) flanking the entrange

This entrance is a double-door with a single light transom above
The building has three bays across the principal facade, and two
bays on the side facades. this is origianal to the building.

Details include 1talianate bracketed roof and window corniceg

and a simple dentil course below the roof. The bullding has a
hipped roof with a central pediment above the entrance on the
principal facade. The pediment contalns a circular appliqgye
ornamentation. These details are original to the building.

Originally the school was painted white with detalls and tri
in a darker color. An earlier and much smaller rectangular scho¢

building (1864) is now attached to the rear of the main schoolbu:
This building has served as an annex since 1868-69. Lt has no
decorative detalils. In the 19th century, the school was surround
by a white picket fence, and the main schoolbuilding had interioj
louvred shutters which wiil eventualily be replaced.

Durings the 19th century, vhe roof, now asphalt, had redwood
shingles; the Foundation plans to replace the present roof with
wooden shingles.
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unaltered, and intended for viable, contemporary public use as
educational museuwn und meeting place. <The O0ffice of the Marin
County Superintendent of Schools has verified this fact. The of
schoolhouses of this era have either been converted to private
residences or demolished.

James Miller and his family pioneered the overland trail tg
California in 1844 and, once here, contributed substantially to
development and growth of California. Munro-Frazer and H.H. Baf

Stevens party of 1844 which, with the aid of the Indian guide,
Truckee, opened the wagon route into California. Both they, and
the more contemporary authors, Irving Stone and George Stewarst,
attribute the success to the combined courage and coolheadcdness
of liartin hkurphy, James liiller and Elisha Stevens, and this hist
making group has variously been called the Murphy party, the kux
Miller party, and the Stevens party.

Once safely into California, with the winter past, killer
brought his family to Marin in 1845. There, Timothy (Don Timote
Murphy, delighted to learn that he and liller were both born nes
Wexford, lreland, granted Miller 680 acres of the Las Gallinas §H
where the Millers had camped on their first night in Marin. Thi
land was part of the famous kexican land grant which Murphy had
received in 1804 from the liexican government.

In 1849, iiller, long-interested in fostering education, by
the first schoolhouse in San Rafael. In 1855 he contributed ful
and labor to vhe building of St. Vincent's School (California
Historical Landmark #630). The School lay directly across from
his own homesite, mMiller Hall.

n

)

'SPECIFIC DATE(S) (If Applicable andKnown) 1 gt buillding: 1864 - 2nd buildings: 18684+

‘'he Dixie Schoolhouse in karinwood (San Rafael), California
is both historically and architecturally significant in relationmshir
to early California. Not only does it provide a valuable 1link to
the well-known James. Miller family, but it is Marin County's last
remaining mid-Victorian one-room schoolhouse which is substantitily

both describe the role James Miller played in the famous lMurphy+
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| . "annual Report of Condition of Common Schools,"
larin County, 1868-69, James liller, County Clerk. i 3

_at State Archives). ’ ’ v {available

Bancroft, H.H. History of California.(History Company Publishers

San Francisco. 1890.

» Board of Supervisors, Marin County, Record of iiinu
Book A-2, page ©38. 1865,

Dwyer, John T. One Hundred Years an Orphan. A History of St.Vinc

tes,

«nt!s

School.(Academy Library Guild. Fresno, California. 1955,
(continued on supplementary sheet)
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As the designated State Liaison Officer for the Na-
tional Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law
89-665), I hereby nominate this property for inclusion
in the National Register and certify that it has been

I hereby certify that this property is included in the

National Register.

evaluated according to the criteria and procedures set
forth by the National Park Service. The recommended
level of significance of this nomination is:
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had been privately tutored, in 1862 when his youngest son, Bernarg,
was six, Miller donated 5/4 of an acre for the Dixie School which|was
to be buillt near the Las Gallinas home ranch, so that Bernard would
have a school to attend: On November , 1864, the Board of Supergisors
formally established the "Dixle Public School District', paking Dixie
one of the earliest districts to be established in Marin.” The orfiginal
Dixie Schoolhouse, which later became an annex and library tou the
larger and newer schoolhouse, was bullt in 1864. This fact is cohfirme
both by Bernard Hoffman's notes, and the Superintendent of Schoolp
Report in 1899. Mr. Hoffman, raised by the Miller family, attendpd
Dixie in the 1870's, and later served as a trustee of the districf for
50 years. His notes, commenting on a 195% newspaper article on the
Dixie Schoolhouse, state that the "present annex to the main bullfiing
was built in 1864. I have seen '1864' printed on its side. The [large
building was bullt later."

Mr. Hoffman's memory served him well. An 1899 Report of the
Superintendent of Schools confirms this date. It also records thpt
the "Dixie District is richest in proportion to population in the
County. It joins San Rafacl on the north and includes in its terpitory
the St. Vincent's Orphanage where there are about 500 children. n
account of these children the district secures large State apportilon-
ments. &after paying all expenses large sums accumulate which are
apportioned to the other county districts. The District was organized5
Nov. &, 1865, and a house was built and school opened in larch, 1B64."

Mirs. Frances Killer Leitz, daughter of Bernard iiller four whjom the
school was built, and grandaughter of Jumes HMiller, is still livipg.
She has stated that her grandfather not only donated the land, but
helped haul redwood from the Nicasio Mills for construction. of bojth
school buildings. A comparison of the later schoolbuilding to phlotos
and drawings of ililler Hall shows a striking similarity in design]
principles, which suggests that the same architect was responsiblie for
both. lirs. Leitz also uncovered the origin of the school's name when
she stated that her grandfather, not being a man to turn down a challen
named the building on a dare. Marin County, in 1864, was hotly pro-
Northern, and the fact that several "gentlemen" from the South hellped
construct the first schoolhouse prompted someone to dare James Ilifller
to name the school "Dixie." He did. Thus Dixie opened in March [of 186

The construction date of ihe later bullding has generally bgen
attributed to 1869, but, until recently, no documentary proof had been
uncovered. However, recent research at the State Archives has priovided
substantial evidence that 1868-69 was the construction date for the
Dixie Schoolhouse which bears such striking resemblance to Millen Hall.
Starting in 1865, all Counuy Superintendents of Schools were reguired
to turn in an "Annual Report of ithe Condition of Common Schools.'| This
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report, now in the Archives, includes teachers' names, salaries pgid,

student attendance, money received, and expenditures itemized for

the

schoolyear. Thus we have a fairly detaliled record of what occurrgd in

each school district for the year reported.

Until the schoolyear, 1868-69, Dixile school property, which in-

cluded schoolhouwe and equipment was CUnsistently valued at 300
In 1868-69, ihe total "valuation of property" suddenly Jlmpgd to 4
and for the first time the evaluation included a "library." It see
the fire.t 1little schoolhouse now served another purpose--as librarn
annex tu the new building. A note in the iarin County Journal, TH
way 29, 1375 confirms the use of the annex as a library. “The DIiX
3chool, under iliss Giffin, has sixteen pupils enroll.d with a good
average attendance. They have a good school room with library atf
~which contalns a very choice selectlonﬁf works. It 1s considered

1100,

ms
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a

model school in 21l its appointments.

Finally, on January 9, 1874, Jemes liiller deeded the 5/4 acre
to the Dixie School District on the sole condition that the propen
be used exclusively for public school purposes.

It should be noted that research continues. The Dixie Schoo]
Foundation, responsible for the restoration and interpretation of
schoolhouse, has just recently come in contact with James [iller!'s

site
ty

house
the
two

oldest surviving descendants, and many of the family documents, degeds,

papers and photographs have yet to be analyzed. Irances liller L4
James liiller's grandaughter, taught at the Dixie Schoolhouse, und

be of tremendous help in providing the Foundation with an accurate

description of the interior of the schoolroom att the turn of the
century, as well as daily school life, and 1life with the Millers.

The whole purpose in back of this restoration project is to
return something of historical and architectural significance to
current community use. Dixie 1s the only schoolhouse of mid-Victﬁ
architecture which is still devoted to public use. Once restored

itaz,
will

rian
and

refurnished, it will become a multiple-use museum, serving as a reminde:

of James ililler's contribution to early Marin history, and as a pl]
where puplls can visit on field trips, and gather for special clag
as well as a place where community groups may meet for various pul

1l. llarin County Independent Journal, July 10, 1971, "The Story of
lillers of liarin, p. il4.
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2. Dwyer, John T., One Hundred Years an Orphan. Academy Library Gpild,

Fresno, Culifornia. 1955.

5. liarin County Independent Journal, Centenial Issue, "Fortunes fpr

Ranchers in '49 Gold Rush, p. H3.

4. Board of Supervisors, Marin Countyé Record of Migggesb Ba%k A-P
b4 . *

5. karin County Journal, Vol oy, No. July 27,
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6« Tannual Report . of Candition of pommon Schools,”" #arin Co., 186B-69.

7. liarin CountX;Journal Thursday, iay 29, 1875, "School Notes."
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